FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/9/2018 2:52 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 96179-4

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MONTLAKE LLC, a Washington limited liability company; STELTER MONTLAKE LLC, a Washington limited liability company; BTF ENTERPRISES, INC., a Washington corporation; T-MOBILE USA, and the Montlake Community Club

Appellants.

Petition for Review

MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

P. Stephen DiJulio, WSBA No. 7139 steve.dijulio@foster.com Andrea L. Bradford, WSBA No. 45748 andrea.bradford@foster.com

FOSTER PEPPER PLLC

1111 Third Avenue, Suite 3000 Seattle, WA 98101-3292 Telephone: 206.447.4400

I. INTRODUCTION

This motion is narrowly about the condemnation and demolition of the beloved Montlake Market familiar to neighborhood residents, University of Washington students, and Husky fans. But it is more broadly about the many ways that the Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT) has overreached and acted unfairly toward the community, property owners and residents as it has attempted to address its own poor planning with respect to the \$4.5 billion SR 520 bridge replacement project. The trial court and the Court of Appeals both labored mightily to rationalize WSDOT's overreaching and to rule with the haste that WSDOT demanded because of WSDOT's own delays. But in the process, the law has been distorted regarding the State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA), review of arbitrary and capricious agency action, and the right of property owners to appeal public use and necessity findings. This Court should review the following issues.

First, WSDOT said for years that it would not take the Montlake Market property and would protect it. When WSDOT abruptly changed its mind in 2016, it did not have the necessary environmental review to pursue its new, changed plans. WSDOT attempted to cover its changes by citing the overarching National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) review for the entire project, even though SEPA clearly requires review of such changes.

The Court of Appeals let WSDOT avoid SEPA compliance with an incorrect and inappropriately expansive holding that the NEPA review discharged SEPA requirements. That holding conflicts with other decisions of the Court of Appeals, this Court, and the Washington Administrative Code (WAC). RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

Second, the Court of Appeals' arbitrary and capricious review was inappropriately toothless and even expressly defanged as to key evidence of WSDOT's unfairness and arbitrariness. The Court of Appeals expressly rejected giving weight to the fact that WSDOT's flip-flop and acquisition decisions violated WSDOT's own policy manuals, and gave no weight to the flip-flop itself, which by its very nature is arbitrary unless adequately explained with good reasons. When agencies tell community residents one thing for many years regarding an important question, and then all of the sudden do a 180, courts appropriately demand a solid explanation of that Uturn. The Court of Appeals did not hold WSDOT to that standard, and instead crafted a new one unsupported by, and in conflict with, Washington case law. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

Finally, Petitioners flag a related issue that it may soon warrant the Court's review, but for procedural reasons cannot be reviewed in the present motion. WSDOT has insisted throughout this appeal process that the property owners here must post a bond covering construction delays to

WSDOT caused by the property owners' exercise of their right to appeal the trial court's public use and necessity order. WSDOT sought nearly \$30M as a bond, and the trial court imposed a \$1M bond requirement without express factual findings. There should have been no requirement that the condemnees seek a stay at all, much less post a bond, because an order adjudicating public use and necessity is only final after an appeal. *State ex rel. Wash. v. Allerdice*, 101 Wn. App. 25, 31, 1 P.3d 595 (2000). WSDOT's bullying will deter other property owners from exercising their right of appeal. If this issue become ripe for review, Petitioners may seek this Court's review of the issue and move to consolidate review with this case.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners Montlake LLC and Stelter Montlake LLC own three parcels that WSDOT seeks to condemn and demolish for use as a general "project staging area." Petitioner BTF Enterprises, Inc. is a tenant of the parcels. Petitioner T-Mobile operates wireless facilities on the parcels. Collectively, this motion refers to the Petitioners as the "Market Owners."

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Market Owners seek review of the decision in *State v. Montlake LLC*, *et al.*, No. 77359-3-I, 3 Wn. App. 2d 1045 (unpublished) (April 30, 2018) (attached as Appendix A).

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does RCW 43.21C.150 broadly exempt a state agency from all SEPA requirements, including those contained in Chapter 197-11 WAC, where a NEPA environmental impact statement (NEPA EIS) has been prepared but the project thereafter changed substantially?
- 2. Does an agency's disregard of its own policy manuals constitute evidence of arbitrary and capricious conduct?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

WSDOT's overall project to replace the SR 520 floating bridge is divided into several segments, the last of which is the Rest of the West Project (the "Project"), which involves the segment of SR 520 extending from the Montlake area to I-5. *Montlake LLC*, slip op. at 2. As part of the Project, WSDOT seeks to condemn three separate, contiguous lots. *Id.* at 3. These three properties, referred to as the "Montlake Properties," are a small commercial district at the southwest corner of Montlake Boulevard and SR 520, north of Roanoke. *Id.* A gas station occupies one lot, the second lot is the home of the Montlake Market, and the third is a vacant parking lot next to the Market. *Id.* T-Mobile operates wireless facilities located at the Market that provide vital wireless service to the neighborhood, which would otherwise be a dead zone.

WSDOT's original plan was to avoid impacting these properties. In 2011, the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) and WSDOT completed an environmental impact statement for the Project under NEPA. *Id.* at 3. Of the various alternatives considered for the Project, the NEPA EIS's "Preferred Alternative" minimized environmental and neighborhood impacts and almost fully protected the Market and the Gas Station. None of the options analyzed in the 2011 environmental impact statement ever considered taking, demolishing, and closing the Market, or using the Montlake Properties for general project staging.

But in 2016, WSDOT suddenly flip-flopped. It decided instead to condemn the Montlake Properties, demolish the Market, displace all occupants, and use the properties for 10 years of general project staging. CP 2784-87. It did not, however, undertake any additional environmental review before so choosing, let alone prepare a new or supplemental environmental impact statement. In other words, WSDOT used an environmental analysis based on *avoiding* the Montlake Properties to justify *demolishing* them.

When the Market Owners learned that WSDOT now desired to condemn and demolish the Montlake Properties, they asked the agency to undertake a supplemental environmental review. Members of the Montlake community also protested, and WSDOT officials publicly backtracked,

stating that although they were still intending to acquire the Montlake Properties, they would not close the Montlake Market or use the Montlake Properties for general construction staging for the Project.

In October 2016, WSDOT purportedly analyzed the environmental impact of its changed plans. *Montlake LLC*, slip op. at 3-4. But that "reevaluation" did *not* address either demolition of the Montlake Market or the use of the Market Properties for general project staging. *See id.* at 8. And throughout November and December of 2016, WSDOT personnel continued to insist in news interviews and public meetings WSDOT's intention to keep the Market open and that it would not use the Montlake Properties for general project staging. *Id.* at 19.

In April 2017, with only pro forma Market Owner input and no further public meetings other than the Owners' presentation under RCW 8.25.290, WSDOT advised the Market Owners that they were condemning the Montlake Properties. But at that point, WSDOT's last public pronouncements were that (1) it did not need to demolish the Market, (2) it wanted to be the Market's landlord, and (3) it did not intend to use the properties for general project staging. In May 2017, WSDOT filed its condemnation petition and motion for an order of public use and necessity. *Id.* at 4. The Market Owners opposed the motion, and requested discovery and a hearing, joined by co-condemnee T-Mobile and the Montlake

Community Club, which intervened. Among the Market Owners' objections was WSDOT's plan to condemn but become the Market's landlord.

Two months after filing the case, WSDOT delivered responses to the Market Owners' written discovery. Those responses included for the first time demonstratives and related documents purporting to show the need to demolish the Market and use the Montlake Properties for "temporary lane shifts," a "potential" (but highly unlikely) sewer line relocation, and other temporary purposes. WSDOT now abandoned its attempt to defend the story that it would preserve the Market structure but work to become the Market's landlord or that it would not use the properties for general construction staging. WSDOT had conducted no further environmental review past the October 2016 reevaluation, which evaluated neither scenario nor possible alternatives.

In September 2017, after several motions and a 2-day hearing, the Superior Court granted WSDOT's motion for an order of public use and necessity to take all three parcels. CP 3474-89. The Market Owners appealed.

On appeal, the Market Owners argued that WSDOT failed to satisfy SEPA's requirements because it failed to perform supplemental environmental analysis of the environmental impacts of demolishing the

Montlake Properties and using them as a staging area, and possible alternatives. But in its opinion, the Court of Appeals held that "the trial court correctly decided that SEPA did not apply to WSDOT's [public use and necessity] motion." *Montlake LLC*, slip op. at 13. The court reasoned that RCW 43.21C.135¹ [sic]

allows an agency that prepares an "adequate detailed statement" that satisfies NEPA to use it in lieu of the [environmental impact statement] that SEPA requires and exempts the agency from satisfying SEPA's requirements. This means that a project does not need a SEPA [environmental impact statement] when it has an [environmental impact statement] that satisfies NEPA.

Montlake LLC, slip op. at 12.

The Court of Appeals also held that WSDOT's failure to follow its own manuals did not play a role in the court's arbitrary and capricious analysis. The Court of Appeals reasoned that because WSDOT "did not formulate its policies in the Guidebook in response to legislative delegation," the policies do not have the force of law. *Montlake LLC*, slip

-

-8-

¹ That citation is undoubtedly in error. RCW 43.21C.**135** refers to the authority of local governmental units to adopt rules, guidelines, etc., by reference. The Market Owners believe the Court of Appeals meant to reference RCW 43.21C.**150**, which sets out when an agency may rely on a NEPA adequate detailed statement (aka EIS) to satisfy SEPA, and that the reference the Court of Appeals' citation to RCW 43.21C.135 is a typographical error.

op. at 11. Therefore, the failure of WSDOT to follow its own manuals "does not undermine the trial court's findings." *Id.*

The Market Owners filed a motion for reconsideration. Appendix B.

The Court of Appeals denied reconsideration. Appendix C.

From the beginning of this appeal, WSDOT used strong-arm tactics to dissuade the Market Owners from exercising their right to appeal. The Market Owners filed a timely appeal of the trial court's order granting WSDOT's motion for an order of public use and necessity. While the appeal was pending, WSDOT moved under CR 26(b) to compel entry onto the Montlake Properties to perform 16 days of invasive valuation testing of the properties it now considered its own, even though Washington condemnation law is clear that an order of public use and necessity is not final if appellate review is sought.

The Market Owners filed a notice of a supersedeas stay pursuant to RAP 8.1 and posted a \$5,000 bond. WSDOT responded by arguing that the bond should be between \$12.7M and \$26.4M as compensation for alleged "delays" caused by the Market Owners' exercise of their right of appeal. Without factual findings, the trial court ordered the Market Owners to post an additional \$1 million bond. Appendix D.

The Owners appealed the imposition of a \$1 million bond and the Court of Appeals assigned a different appellate number to the bond appeal

(77644-4-I) than this "main" action (77359-3-I). After the Court of Appeals' decision in the main action, the Commissioner dismissed the Owners' bond appeal as moot. The Market Owners filed a motion to modify the Commissioner's ruling, arguing that the issues are not moot, especially because the appeal in the main action is ongoing while the Market Owners seek this Court's review. Appendix E. The motion to modify is currently pending.

VI. ARGUMENT

SEPA is not simply a mirror of NEPA. Unlike NEPA, SEPA guarantees that "each person has a fundamental and inalienable right to a healthful environment and that each person has a responsibility to contribute to the preservation and enhancement of the environment." RCW 41.21C.020(3). To that end, the Washington Supreme Court has held that "[t]he comprehensive review envisioned by SEPA is to be 'detailed' and does not invite a lackadaisical approach." *Eastlake Cmty. Council v. Roanake Associates, Inc.*, 82 Wn.2d 475, 494, 513 P.2d 36 (1973).

A. The Court of Appeals' broad holding that SEPA does not apply to this case is legally incorrect and in conflict with Division II's decision in *Boss*, Chapter 197-11 WAC, and this Court's decision in *Brannan*

The Court of Appeals, like the trial court, took the sort of lackadaisical approach that this Court warned against in *Eastlake Cmty*. *Council*. It failed to interpret SEPA in a way that both preserves the

legislative intent in RCW 41.21C.150 *and* the requirements and intent of administrative regulations in Chapter 197-11 WAC. Instead, its overbroad and summary holding creates conflict where there is none, thereby displacing rules such as WAC 197-11-600, -610, and -630.

RCW 43.21C.030(2)(c) directs that all branches and state agencies *shall*:

Include in every recommendation or report on proposals for legislation and other major actions significantly affecting the quality of the environment, a detailed statement by the responsible official on:

- (i) the environmental impact of the proposed action;
- (ii) any adverse environmental effects which cannot be avoided should the proposal be implemented;
- (iii) alternatives to the proposed action;

. . .

RCW 43.21C.030(2)(c). In 1974, in order to reduce duplicative reports, the legislature enacted RCW 43.21C.150. LAWS of 1973-1974, 1974 1st ex. sess., ch. 179, § 12; *Boss v. Wash. State Dep't of Transp.*, 113 Wn. App. 543, 551, 54 P.3d 207 (2002). This statute makes the requirements of RCW 43.21C.030(2)(c) inapplicable in certain circumstances:

The requirements of RCW 43.21C.030(2)(c) pertaining to the preparation of a detailed statement by branches of government shall not apply when an *adequate* detailed statement has been previously prepared pursuant to the national environmental policy act of 1969, in which event said prepared statement *may* be utilized in lieu of a

separately prepared statement under RCW 43.21C.030(2)(c).

RCW 43.21C.150 (emphasis added).

For purposes of this case, the two bolded, italicized words above are most significant. RCW 43.21C.150 does not exist in a vacuum. Pursuant to RCW 43.21C.110, the Department of Ecology promulgated specific procedural and substantive rules that control the discretion of state agencies in the adoption of NEPA environmental impact statements and other federal environmental documents to satisfy the requirements under SEPA. These administrative rules require that an agency "may" adopt any environmental analysis prepared under NEPA "by following WAC 197-11-600 and 197-11-630." WAC 197-11-610(1). For example, before an agency adopts a NEPA environmental analysis, such as an environmental impact statement, the state agency must "independently review the content of the document and determine that it meets the adopting agency's environmental review standards[.]" WAC 197-11-630(1).

There are other substantive requirements in adopting a NEPA environmental impact statement. The agency "shall use an environmental document unchanged, except [in specified circumstances]" WAC 197-11-600(3). And for environmental impact statements specifically (including those promulgated under NEPA that an agency may wish to rely upon

under RCW 43.21C.150), an agency must perform a supplemental environmental impact statement if there are "substantial changes to a proposal so that the proposal is likely to have significant adverse environmental impacts," or "[n]ew information indicating a proposal's significant adverse environmental impacts," which include discovery of misrepresentation or lack of material disclosure. WAC 197-11-600(3)(b)(i)-(ii) and (4)(d)(i)-(ii).

The Court of Appeals opinion falters on both these procedural and substantive requirements. WSDOT's current proposal—which now seeks to condemn to demolish the Market and Properties and use them for general construction staging—presents an obvious substantial change to the 2011 NEPA environmental impact statement and the 2016 reevaluation. Those changes are "likely to have significant adverse environmental impacts," WAC 197-11-600(3)(b)(i), and are also plainly "[n]ew information indicating a proposal's probably significant adverse environmental impact." WAC 197-11-600(3)(b)(ii). But the Court of Appeals could not be more clear in the broadness of its holding: "This means that a project does not need a SEPA [environmental impact statement] when it has an [environmental impact statement] that satisfies NEPA." Slip op. at 12. Such a broad holding reads administrative rules such as WAC 197-11-600, -610, and -630 out of existence.

The Court of Appeals opinion also conflicts with prior case law which does recognize the requirements of Chapter 197-11 WAC, and that NEPA works with SEPA and does not displace it. See Magnolia Neighborhood Planning Council v. City of Seattle, 155 Wn. App. 305, 319, 230 P.3d 190 (2010) ("NEPA [is to] work in conjunction with analogous state laws[.]"). In *Boss*, the Court of Appeals similarly held that generally a NEPA environmental impact statement may serve as a substitute for a state agency's separate SEPA environmental impact statement. Boss, 113 Wn. App. at 552. Boss also addressed the "critical question, whether DOT must comply with SEPA regulatory requirements for the adoption of a NEPA [environmental impact statement] before it may utilize the [environmental impact statement]?" *Id.* at 553. *Boss* holds that the answer is yes. *Id.* at 554. But in *Boss*, "there apparently is no dispute that DOT used the [environmental impact statement] unchanged," and therefore further discussion on the requirements of Chapter 197-11 WAC was unnecessary under the facts of that case. Id. The Court of Appeals holding here directly conflicts with *Boss* because if fails to recognize the important requirements of Chapter 197-11 WAC.

The Court of Appeals overbroad holding reads important procedural and substantive requirements in Chapter 197-11 WAC out of existence, blithely equals SEPA to NEPA, creates a conflict with Division

II's holding in *Boss*, and permits WSDOT to act to condemn before it has a legally adequate environmental review of its changed proposal, which flip flops from protecting and avoiding all three parcels to taking them and using them for 10 years of general construction staging.

Not only does the Court of Appeals undermine the vitality of Chapter 197-11 WAC and *Boss*, it also conflicts with the precedent of this Court in *Brannan* that an agency must demonstrate it has given due consideration of the environmental impacts of its condemnation decision. *State v. Brannan*, 85 Wn.2d 64, 68, 530 P.2d 322 (1975). Here, WSDOT has not only failed to give due consideration to those environmental issues; it has studiously avoided the required analysis, aided and abetted by the courts below, in hurried response to WSDOT's demands to "avoid delay." These issues warrant this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(1),(2), and (4).

B. The Court of Appeals failed to consider WSDOT's disregard of its own policies as evidence of arbitrary and capricious conduct

The Court of Appeals failed to adequately consider WSDOT's disregard of its own policy manuals as evidence of arbitrary and capricious conduct. Instead, the Court of Appeals held that only "policies in response to legislative delegation" that have the force of law may be

considered in an arbitrary and capricious analysis. That is both legally incorrect and makes the Court of Appeals' entire analysis suspect.

The Market Owners allege that WSDOT's condemnation decision is arbitrary and capricious, and that WSDOT's disregard of both its

Design-Build Guidebook and its Right of Way Manual is evidence of this arbitrary and capricious conduct (and provides additional evidence of such misbehavior). The Court of Appeals, however, dismissed the evidence outright. It concluded that because these manuals were not "equivalent to liability-creating administrative rules," they do not have the force of law.

Montlake LLC, slip op. at 11, 19. And because they do not have the force of law, WSDOT's failure to follow these manuals cannot prove that its decision was arbitrary and capricious. Id. at 19. In other words, by a simple syllogism the Court of Appeals held that only manuals and other documents that "have the force of law" may support a finding of arbitrary and capricious conduct if an agency ignores them.

The Court of Appeals either confused or wished to conflate two different issues. Violating manuals with the force of law would obviously break the law. But even if the manuals don't have the force of law, not following them is at least *evidence* of arbitrariness. The Court of Appeals does not cite a single case otherwise. Deviation from policies and manuals—and more generally, the inconsistency and flip-flopping that it

demonstrates—may support a finding of arbitrary and capricious conduct. See Esses Daman Family LLC v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd., 200 Wn. App. 1021, 2017 WL 3476785 at *7 (August 14, 2017) (unpublished and nonbinding) (misapplication of the agency's manual considered evidence of arbitrary and capricious conduct). Federal law holds similarly. FCC v. Fox Television Stations, Inc., 556 U.S. 502, 537, 129 S. Ct. 1800, 173 L. Ed. 2d 738 (2009) ("[A]n agency's decision to change course may be arbitrary and capricious if the agency ignores or countermands its earlier factual findings without reasoned explanation for doing so."); National Cable & Telecommunications Ass'n v. Brand X Internet Services, 545 U.S. 967, 981, 125 S. Ct. 2688, 162 L. Ed. 2d 820 (2005) ("[u]nexplained inconsistency is...a reason for holding an interpretation to be an arbitrary and capricious change from agency practice...").

The Court of Appeals essentially threw out consideration of WSOT's violation of its policies and manuals because they do not have the force of law. That was legally incorrect. This Court should take review to clarify the correct standard—when agencies ignore their own policies and manuals, that deviation can be evidence of arbitrary and capricious conduct.

C. The trial court improperly imposed an oppressive supersedeas bond for "delay" costs that prevents property owners from exercising their right to appeal

Finally, the Market Owners flag an issue of substantial public interest which, although not immediately ripe for review, may warrant this Court's review soon. Even though this issue arises from the same facts as the issues above, the procedural peculiarity caused by assigning a different appellate case number prevents the Market Owners' from seeking review in this motion while a motion to modify is pending at the Court of Appeals. If this issue does become ripe, the Market Owners may seek this Court's review and move to consolidate these appeals.

Washington law is clear: an order of public use and necessity is not final until the appeal is exhausted. *Allerdice*, 101 Wn. App. at 31. The condemnation proceeding itself moves in a gated, step-by-step process of three judgments, each "a condition precedent to the entry of the subsequent judgment." *Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Chelan Cty. v. Wash. Water Power Co.*, 43 Wn.2d 639, 641, 262 P.2d 976 (1953). In this way, condemnation decisions are not like normal civil litigation where a prevailing party holds the rights to the property during appeal. Right now, and until (1) this appeal is exhausted, (2) if this appeal is unsuccessful, a trial is held to determine just compensation, *and* (3) WSDOT deposits that money into the trial court's registry, the Market Properties are the property of the Market Owners, not WSDOT.

And yet, at WSDOT's insistence, the trial court imposed a \$1M supersedeas bond upon the Market Owners for exercising their right to appeal. The trial court's order compelling the Market Owners' submission to more than 2 weeks of uncompensated, invasive valuation testing under CR 26 is contrary to Washington law and is a clear taking in violation of Wash. Const. art. I, § 16. See, e.g., Tapio Inv. Co. I v. State, 196 Wn. App. 528, 539-40, 384 P.3d 600 (2016); Manuf. Housing Communities of Wash. v. State, 142 Wn.2d 347, 13 P.3d 183 (2000) (compensation must first be made before a taking). The supersedeas bond here also improperly requires the Market Owners to post a \$1M bond to preserve their own property rights—rights that under Washington law are still theirs. See Guest v. Lange, 195 Wn. App. 330, 338, 381 P.3d 130 (2016) (supersedeas bonds designed to maintain status quo). The status quo during an appeal is that the property remains with the property owners, not the State.

At least equally troubling is WSDOT's position on the supersedeas bond issue. It requested that the trial court require a bond of nearly \$30M to cover alleged "delays" to WSDOT's Project "caused" by the Market Owners' exercise of their right to appeal. It seeks to stifle property owners that challenge agency misconduct by demanding that they post punitive supersedeas bonds. WSDOT's actions will have a chilling effect on future

property owners considering exercise of their right of appeal. When ripe, the Market Owners may seek review of this bond issue and consolidate it with the issues on review in this motion.

VII. CONCLUSION

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