FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/24/2018 8:00 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 96179-4

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MONTLAKE LLC, a Washington limited liability company; STELTER MONTLAKE LLC, a Washington limited liability company; BTF ENTERPRISES, INC., a Washington corporation; T-MOBILE USA; and MONTLAKE COMMUNITY CLUB,

STATE OF WASHINGTON'S ANSWER TO MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Appellants,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

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

## IV. ARGUMENT

## A. Standard of Review

A motion for discretionary review must show that the decision below "conflicts with a decision of this court or another division of the Court of Appeals; that it presents a significant question of constitutional interest; or that it presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by this court." RAP 13.4(b); *In re: Coats*, 173 Wn.2d 123, 132-33, 267 P.3d 324 (2011) (citing RAP 13.4(b)). Because none of these required criteria are met here, Appellants' motion for discretionary review should be denied.

## B. Appellants' Motion is Procedurally Deficient

Many of the Appellants' assertions are contrary to the evidence contained in the record. See App. 1 at 6-10. Appellants have failed to comply with the rules of procedure by not providing appropriate references to the record in support of their factual statements. RAP 13.4(c)(6). This Court has declined to consider facts received in briefs but not supported by the record. *Sherry v. Financial Indem. Co.*, 160 Wn.2d 611, 615 n.1, 160 P.3d 31 (2007). Accordingly, because all of Appellants' claims rely upon assertions of fact not supported by citations to the record, this Court should decline to consider those facts and deny the Motion for Discretionary Review.

# C. SEPA Does Not Apply To This Condemnation Action; the Court of Appeals' Analysis of the Relationship Between NEPA and SEPA, Although Dictum, Is Consistent with Precedent

SEPA compliance is not required in an eminent domain action by a state agency. *State v. Brannan*, 85 Wn.2d 64, 73-74, 530 P.2d 322 (1975); *Petition of Port of Grays Harbor*, 30 Wn. App. 855, 865, 638 P.2d 633

(1982). WAC 197-11-800(5) categorically exempts the purchase or acquisition of any right to real property by an agency from the threshold determination and EIS requirements of SEPA. *Marino Property Co. v. Port of Seattle*, 88 Wn.2d 822, 830-31, 567 P.2d 1125 (1977) (citing former WAC 197-10-170); *State v. Hutch*, 30 Wn. App. 28, 40, 631 P.2d 1014 (1981) (same). In deciding whether an order adjudicating public use was properly granted, it does not matter whether the agency prepared an EIS under NEPA or SEPA. The condemnation action is exempt.

Consequently, the Court of Appeals' discussion regarding NEPA and SEPA is nonbinding dicta. *State v. Hummel*, 165 Wn. App. 749, 765, 266 P.3d 269 (2012) (statements made in the decision that are "wholly incidental" to the basic decision are dicta and do not create binding authority). Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals' analysis of the relationship between NEPA and SEPA is consistent with this Court's holdings in *State v. Brannan*, 85 Wn.2d 64, 530 P.2d 322 (1975), and *Boss v. Dep't of Transp.*, 113 Wn. App. 543, 550, 54 P.3d 207 (2002). It is not an "incorrect and inappropriately expansive holding that the NEPA review discharged SEPA requirements" as alleged by Appellants. App. Mot. Discretionary Review at 2. Rather, it holds that under RCW 43.21C.150 "a project does not need a SEPA EIS when it has an EIS that satisfies NEPA," and concludes that "[b]ecause a federal district court upheld the validity of the

[final EIS] under NEPA and the sufficiency of the [final EIS] was not at issue," the trial court correctly decided that SEPA did not apply to WSDOT's public use and necessity motion. *Montlake, LLC*, slip op. at 12-13.

Neither WSDOT, the trial court, nor the Court of Appeals have stated that NEPA "pre-empts" SEPA, as Appellants have claimed. Rather, the Court of Appeals' decision applies a provision of SEPA, which by its plain language does not require a separate SEPA EIS when a NEPA EIS has been prepared. RCW 43.21C.150. The result here is the same as in *Boss*, 113 Wn. App. at 553, which concluded that because "the NEPA/SEPA EIS was prepared before DOT issued its final project approval, RCW 43.21C.150 exempts the EIS from further review under SEPA." There is no conflict with this case law, nor is there a need to argue that NEPA pre-empts SEPA.

The primary case Appellants rely on, *Magnolia Neighborhood Planning Council v. City of Seattle*, 155 Wn. App. 305, 230 P.3d 190 (2010), is not on point. *Magnolia* is not an eminent domain case; it involved a purchase of land by a municipal corporation (the City of Seattle) from another governmental entity (specifically, the United States) and whether the City's decision to approve a specific construction project on that land was a "project action" under SEPA. *Id.* at 308. The City of Seattle had

approved a plan regarding the future use of the land, but had not yet prepared an EIS to support its planned action, having concluded that the plan was a preliminary step and that environmental review would be completed at a later time. *Id.* at 310. The Court of Appeals held that the approval of the construction project was a "project action" subject to SEPA review. *Id.* at 313-18. The City argued in the alternative that NEPA pre-empted SEPA, a position that the Court of Appeals also rejected. *Id.* at 318. The facts of the *Magnolia* case are not analogous to the present case and do not support Appellants' argument.

The Court of Appeals' analysis is consistent with case law. Appellants cite no case law contradicting the Court of Appeals' conclusion that RCW 43.21C.150 permits a valid NEPA EIS to fulfill SEPA's requirements for an EIS.

## D. The Court of Appeals' Conclusion That WSDOT Permissibly Departed From Its Design-Build Guidebook Does Not Conflict With Precedent

The Court of Appeals did not hold, as alleged by Appellants, that failure to follow an agency's guidelines could never be used as evidence to show arbitrary or capricious conduct. Rather, it held that under the facts of this case, WSDOT's alleged failure to adopt a discretionary guideline was not sufficient evidence to undermine the trial court's findings of public use and necessity.

The trial court's conclusion that WSDOT's Design-Build Guidebook (Guidebook) and Right of Way Manual do not have the force of law is not in conflict with settled case law. *Montlake, LLC*, slip op. at 11, (citing *Joyce v. Dep't of Corrections*, 155 Wn.2d 306, 323, 119 P.3d 825 (2005) (holding that policy directives not promulgated pursuant to legislative delegation do not have force of law)); *see also Id.* slip op. at 19.

The question underlying this issue pertains ultimately to the timing of WSDOT's acquisition of the Properties. Appellants assert that WSDOT did not comply with the Guidebook because it acquired the Properties before contracting with a design-builder for the relevant part of the project—even though they admit that the Guidebook "allows" (but does not require) WSDOT to wait until after contracting with a design-builder to acquire property. *See* Motion at 12 n.4. The trial court resolved the issue by simply applying the correct legal standard that the property must be reasonably necessary in a reasonable time. *City of Tacoma v. Welcker*, 65 Wn.2d 677, 684, 399 P.2d 330 (1965). Here, WSDOT determined that it needed to acquire the Properties prior to contracting, and supported its determination on the record. The fact that its Guidebook provides the option of doing so later does not make its decision arbitrary and capricious.

The unpublished case cited by Appellants, *Esses Daman Family*, *LLC v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd.*, 200 Wn. App. 1021,

2017 WL 3476785 (2017), is not on point. In *Esses*, the Court of Appeals reversed the Board's misinterpretation of an agency guideline after the Board used the agency manual as evidence to support its decision. *Id.* at n.4. Even though the manual was evidence and not applicable law, the Court of Appeals applied the laws of statutory construction to derive its meaning and evaluate whether it was appropriate evidence.

Similarly, in this case, the Guidebook was *evidence*. There was no argument presented by Appellants about how the trial court interpreted the language in the Guidebook, or about how it should have been interpreted. In their brief to the Court of Appeals, Appellants characterized the Guidebook as including an "*option allowing* WSDOT to postpone property acquisition." Appellants' Op. Br. at 37 (emphasis added). They did so again in their Motion for Discretionary Review, as noted above. Motion at 12 n.4. They understand and concede that the Guidebook is discretionary, not mandatory.

Thus, the only thing this case has in common with the unpublished opinion in *Esses* is that both involved the use of agency manuals or guidelines as evidence. *Esses* does not support Appellants' argument that failure to follow an internal agency manual outlining discretionary procedures is *per se* evidence of arbitrary and capricious conduct amounting to fraud or constructive fraud. *See, e.g., HTK Mgmt. v. Seattle Popular* 

Monorail Auth., 155 Wn.2d 612, 629, 121 P.3d 1166, 1175 (2005) ("A declaration of necessity by a proper municipal authority is conclusive in the absence of actual fraud or arbitrary and capricious conduct, as would constitute constructive fraud.")

## E. The Motion for Discretionary Review Does Not Raise Any Significant Questions of Law or Issues Involving a Substantial Public Interest

As shown above, the decision below does not raise a significant question of law and is not otherwise in conflict with settled case law. Nor does it involve the potential to affect proceedings in the lower courts, since the questions of law determined by the Court of Appeals are unpublished and limited to the facts of this case. Appellants have not demonstrated that the Court of Appeals decision, "has the potential to affect a number of proceedings in the lower courts" or that this Court's review is necessary to "avoid unnecessary litigation and confusion on a common issue." *In re: Flippo*, 185 Wn.2d 1032, 380 P.3d 413 (2016) (mem.) (citing *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005)).

The public interest exception has not been used in statutory or regulatory cases that are limited on their facts. *See, e.g., Harvest House Restaurant, Inc. v. Lynden,* 102 Wn.2d 369, 685 P.2d 600 (1984) (ordinance limiting sale of liquor only one existing in the state); *Tri–State Constr. Co. v. Seattle,* 14 Wn. App. 476, 478–79, 543 P.2d 353 (1975) (specific statute

authorizing Seattle to award public contracts in contravention of city charter when required by federal development programs.)

## V. CONCLUSION

Appellants do not cite any law or refer to any portion of the record that supports their position. The decision below is a straightforward interpretation of Washington statutes and case law that rejects Appellants' arguments and does not conflict with settled case law. Appellants' motion for discretionary review does not raise any important questions of law or substantial public interest meriting this Court's attention. The Motion should be denied.